TGEGKXGF.'31: 14236'36-65-5; .'Iqj p'C0Vqo culpq.'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC13-819

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 92-442-CFMA

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd Suite 118-61 Estero, FL 33928 (850) 322-2172

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

In Mr. Orme's case, resentencing counsel was in the unique position of having been provided a roadmap as to the mitigation to present on behalf of their client. During Mr. Orme's original penalty phase proceedings, he received a 7-5 jury recommendation. Mr. Orme presented two mental health experts, Dr. Clell Warriner, a clinical psychologist, and Dr. Thomas McClane, a psychiatrist/pharmacologist. Both experts testified to Mr. Orme's longstanding substance abuse and their opinion that he met both statutory mental health mitigating circumstances.

Additionally, lay mitigation witnesses testified to Mr. Orme's drug problems, his depression, and to his difficult childhood, including the mental abuse he endured at the hands of his father (R. 1126-31, 1134-41). Further, a medical supervisor at the Bay County Jail Annex testified that after Mr. Orme was arrested, he was distraught and suicidal; Mr. Orme was also very respectful to the nurses and was a role model at the jail (R. 1146-48, 1152, 1155).

During postconviction proceedings, collateral counsel asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence of Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder. Collateral counsel presented four mental health experts at the postconviction evidentiary hearing who testified to Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder, and counsel also presented the findings of a

¹In addition to Drs. Warriner and McClane, collateral counsel presented the testimony of Drs. John Herkov and Michael Maher.

fifth expert that Mr. Orme was being treated for bipolar disorder.² Collateral counsel asserted that in light of the 7-5 jury recommendation, the additional evidence would have likely resulted in a life sentence. During Mr. Orme's collateral appeal, this Court agreed, stating that "the fact that the jury did not hear the evidence of Orme's bipolar disorder combined with the jury's penalty phase vote of seven to five undermines our confidence in the result of the penalty phase. Therefore we remand this case for a new penalty phase proceeding." Orme v. State, 896 So. 2d 725, 736 (Fla. 2005).

Mr. Orme's resentencing attorneys were in a unique and beneficial position. They had transcripts of the prior proceedings which contained mitigating evidence that this Court had already determined undermined confidence in the result of the original penalty phase proceedings. Thus, resentencing counsel had a precise road map laid out for them: Present the same type of lay mitigation from the original penalty phase in conjunction with similar evidence from the mental health experts and the supporting data they relied on at the postconviction proceedings. Yet, as will be demonstrated herein, resentencing counsel not only failed to present a significant portion of the aforementioned evidence, they also minimized and obfuscated it with wild, speculative and conflicting theories as well as self-defeating testimony and argument. Mr. Orme was prejudiced as a result of resentencing counsel's deficient performance.

²This expert was Dr. Ralph W. Walker, a psychiatrist. Dr. Walker was deceased at the time of the evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE³

An indictment filed on March 26, 1992 in the Circuit Court for Bay County charged Roderick Michael Orme with one count of first degree murder, robbery, and sexual battery (R. 3-4). Mr. Orme pled not guilty to these offenses (R. 170). Mr. Orme proceeded to trial and was found guilty as charged on all counts (R. 619-20). Thereafter, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5 and the trial court sentenced Mr. Orme to death (R. 632). On appeal, this Court affirmed. Orme v. State, 677 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1996), rehearing denied on July 23, 1996. Mr. Orme's certiorari petition was denied on January 13, 1997. Orme v. Florida, 117 S.Ct. 742 (1997).

Mr. Orme filed a Rule 3.850 motion on December 17, 1997, and he amended it on July 19, 2001. Following an evidentiary hearing in December 2001, the trial court denied relief on March 8, 2002. Mr. Orme appealed, and on February 24, 2005, this Court reversed and remanded on the basis of trial counsel's ineffective assistance. Orme v. State, 896 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 2005).

In May, 2007, a new penalty phase was conducted. By a vote of 11-1, the jury recommended a sentence of death. The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Orme

³Citations in this brief are as follows: References to the direct appeal record of Mr. Orme's trial are designated as "R. ____". References to the record of Mr. Orme's original postconviction appeal are designated as "PCR. ____". References to the direct appeal record of Mr. Orme's resentencing are designated as "R2. ____". References to the transcript of Mr. Orme's resentencing are designated as "RT. ____". References to the record of Mr. Orme's postconviction appeal regarding the resentencing are designated as "PC-R2. ___".

to death. On November 19, 2009, this Court issued an opinion affirming Mr. Orme's sentence of death. Orme v. State, 25 So. 3d 536 (Fla. 2009), rehearing denied January 8, 2010. Mr. Orme's certiorari petition was denied on June 7, 2010. Orme v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 3392 (2010).

On June 1, 2011, Mr. Orme filed a Rule 3.850 motion as to the resentencing proceedings (PC-R2. 73-169). An evidentiary hearing was held beginning on April 30, 2012. Thereafter, on March 1, 2013, the trial court denied relief (PC-R2. 366-83). Mr. Orme's motion for rehearing was denied by the trial court on April 1, 2013 (PC-R2. 2786). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

The facts as set forth by this Court in it opinion on direct appeal are as follows:

Roderick Michael Orme had an extensive history of substance abuse for which he previously had sought treatment at a recovery center in Panama City. On the morning of March 4, 1992, Orme suddenly appeared at the center again, despite a lapse of about a year since his prior treatment. He was disoriented and unable to respond to questions, but he did manage to write a message. It was "LEE'S MOT RM15."

While a breathalyzer returned negative results, Orme's blood tested positive for cocaine and he was showing signs of acute cocaine withdrawal. He was cold, his face was flushed, and he was exhibiting symptoms like delirium tremens. An attending physician placed Orme in intensive care for thirty hours. Illegal barbiturates were found in Orme's possession.

Lee's Motel was located only a few blocks from the recovery center. Someone at the center telephoned the motel and said that a man who sounded hysterical had said to check room 15. The owner did so and found the body of a woman who had been badly beaten.

Semen was found in the victim's orifices, but DNA testing could not identify a DNA match. One sample taken from the victim's panties, however, held material that matched the pattern of Orme's DNA. Orme's underpants also had a mixed blood stain matching both Orme and the victim's genotype. Orme's fingerprints were found in the motel room, and his checkbook and identification card were found in the victim's car, which was parked outside.

The cause of death was strangulation. There were extensive bruising and hemorrhaging on the face, skull, chest, arms, left leg, and abdomen, indicating a severe beating. The abdominal hemorrhaging extended completely through the body to the back and involved the right kidney. Jewelry the victim always wore was missing and was never found. Police later identified the body as that of Lisa Redd, a nurse.

Orme acknowledged that he had summoned Redd to his motel room the day she was killed because he was having a "bad high" after freebasing cocaine. Orme and Redd had known each other for some time, and Orme called her because she was a nurse.

On March 4, 1992, Orme told police he had last seen Redd twenty minutes after she arrived at his motel. Orme said she had knocked a crack pipe from his hands, apparently resulting in the loss of his drugs. He left to go partying soon thereafter. In this statement, he also said that this was the first time he had abused cocaine since 1990 and that he did not remember being at the addiction recovery center.

The following day Orme gave a lengthier statement to police. In this one, he said that Redd had arrived at his motel room between 9 and 10 p.m. She slapped his crack pipe out of his hands and swept several pieces of crack into the toilet. Orme said he then took the victim's purse, which contained her car keys, and drove away in her car. Orme said he left and returned several times and that it was still dark when he realized something was wrong with Redd. The last time he returned, however, he could not enter because he had left the motel key inside the room.

Orme was arrested on March 6, 1992, after his release from the hospital. On March 26, 1992, he was charged by indictment with premeditated or felony murder, robbery, and sexual battery.

At trial, Orme testified that Redd had arrived at his motel room at 7, 8, or possibly 8:30 p.m. He again

said he returned to the motel room at some point. At this time he realized Redd's body was cold and that something was wrong. But he said the next thing he remembered was being in the hospital.

Robert Pegg, a cab driver, testified at trial that he had picked up Orme at Lee's Motel around 8 p.m.

A man who lived across from the motel, Joseph Lee, also testified. He said that he generally kept track of what was happening at the motel and had first noticed the victim's automobile there around 9:30 or 10 p.m. Lee said he saw Orme leave and return several times. Before going to bed around 2 a.m., Lee said he saw Orme leave in the victim's car once more.

Another witness, Ann Thicklin, saw someone slowly drive the victim's car into Lee's Motel around 6:15 a.m.

Orme, 677 So. 2d at 270-71.

ORIGINAL POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

During his original postconviction proceedings, Mr. Orme asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to thoroughly investigate and present evidence of his bipolar disorder. The relevant facts of the postconviction evidentiary hearing as set forth by this Court are as follows:

In this case, there was substantial mental mitigation available to trial counsel. Orme had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, and counsel was aware of the diagnosis. Orme's initial defense team, Michael Stone and Pamela Sutton, feared that Orme was suicidal, and they contacted Dr. Clell Warriner, a psychologist, to evaluate Orme. Dr. Warriner then helped to arrange for Dr. Ralph W. Walker, II, a psychiatrist, to evaluate Orme and prescribe medication. Dr. Walker diagnosed Orme with bipolar disorder, prescribed Lithium, Xanax, and Prozac, and informed Stone of this diagnosis in a letter. Dr. Walker was gravely ill with cancer and during the months before trial was on medical leave. During this time, another prison physician renewed Orme's prescriptions. In October 1992, after conducting initial interviews with Orme's family and friends, Stone and Sutton abruptly left their jobs at the public defender's office. Trial was set for the following February.

Attorney Walter Smith, who had met Orme during the initial intake process, took over the case. Smith received the entire file on this case, including the letter from Dr. Walker indicating his bipolar diagnosis. Smith was aware of the diagnosis and admitted that it would have had a significant effect on Orme's case. Smith testified that he did not present evidence of Orme's bipolar diagnosis because he had no other information to corroborate it. As he put it, he did not want his expert to stick his neck out and get his head cut off. However, he did not conduct follow-up interviews with Orme's family and friends to determine if Orme had exhibited behavior in accord with a bipolar diagnosis. The medical experts testified at the postconviction hearing that corroborating data from family, friends, and others observing any mood swings, hypomania, or mania in any form would have supported a bipolar diagnosis.

Also important in this analysis is the fact that Smith did not inform his trial experts that Orme had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder and the fact that he did not provide the experts with the prison medical records that would have shown the medications prescribed to Orme indicating such a diagnosis. Orme's experts never knew that such a diagnosis had been made. Smith testified that he thought he would have provided the information to his experts. He stated that he did not know why he did not provide the information.

Dr. Thomas McClane and Dr. Warriner testified at Orme's trial and at the postconviction hearing. Dr. McClane stated that in preparation for trial he reviewed Orme's hospital records from the 1980s, tapes and transcripts of interviews, records from drug treatment, psychological testing records, and the autopsy report of the victim. He conducted one examination of Orme on the evening before the penalty phase was to begin. At trial, he testified that Orme suffered from "mixed personality disorder with chronic intermittent depression and addiction to cocaine." At the postconviction hearing, Dr. McClane testified that he would normally see a patient more than one time. He also stated that evaluating the patient once, on the eve of trial, was not the normal procedure. Orme told Dr. McClane that he had been prescribed Lithium. Lithium is prescribed to treat bipolar disorder. Dr. McClane testified that patients often mistake the medications they are taking. He stated that he made a notation to check the prison medical records to confirm whether Orme was, in fact, taking Lithium. There is no evidence that Dr. McClane checked the prison medical records before or during Orme's trial. In preparation

for the postconviction proceeding, however, Dr. McClane was given Orme's prison medical records and a copy of the letter from Dr. Walker indicating the diagnosis of bipolar disorder. Dr. McClane was also given affidavits prepared by Orme's friends and family which provide anecdotal information about Orme's past behavior indicative of someone with bipolar disorder. Dr. McClane stated that if he had received this type of information prior to trial, he would have diagnosed Orme as probable bipolar in a depressed phase. Dr. McClane stated that if he had made this diagnosis, he would then have been able to link Orme's major mental illness to his drug addiction because statistically bipolars are significantly more likely to abuse drugs.

Likewise, Dr. Warriner does not remember receiving any information indicating that Orme was bipolar. Dr. Warriner testified at trial that Orme was a depressed cocaine addict and anxious about his situation. At the postconviction hearing, Dr. Warriner stated that he was not asked to provide a diagnosis at trial; he was merely asked to describe Orme's symptoms. Dr. Warriner testified that had he been asked to provide a diagnosis, he would likely have diagnosed Orme with "bipolar disorder, mixed type."

In addition to Dr. Warriner and Dr. McClane, Orme called two additional medical experts to testify at the postconviction hearing that Orme was indeed bipolar, and to explain the significance this diagnosis would have had for his intoxication defense. Dr. John Herkov, a psychologist specializing in addiction, evaluated Orme in 2001. He diagnosed Orme with "bipolar disorder, not otherwise specified." He stated that given the nature of the illness, it was not unusual for a person to be diagnosed with bipolar at thirty years of age. He stated that a person with bipolar has periods of relatively normal behavior, but there are also manic phases and depressive phases, and a person can cycle through these phases rapidly or slowly. He noted a history of mood swings and other behaviors indicative of bipolar disorder. In addition to the anecdotal history, Dr. Herkov considered Dr. Walker's diagnosis and the prescriptions for Lithium, Xanax, and Prozac, and Orme's description of certain sexual compulsions indicative of manic behavior. He also supported his diagnosis by post-trial medical records showing Orme had seen mental health providers in prison for grandiose manic behavior, auditory hallucinations, depression, irritability, compulsiveness, and mood instability, all symptoms consistent with bipolar disorder. Dr. Herkov additionally testified that there is a link between bipolar disorder and drug abuse,

stating that persons suffering from bipolar disorder have a higher incidence of substance abuse than anyone else.

Dr. Michael Maher, a forensic psychiatrist, also testified. He saw Orme in 2001 and reviewed Orme's medical records. He stated he would diagnose Orme with polysubstance abuse and bipolar disorder. When asked why, after all the drug treatment and counseling Orme had received prior to committing this murder, no one before Dr. Walker had made this diagnosis, Dr. Maher stated that substance abuse treatment gives little focus to the underlying psychiatric disorders. He opined that Orme's relative stability since being in prison is attributed to the fact that he is confined for twenty-three hours a day and there is a lack of stimuli. The prison medical records do show, however, that Orme suffers insomnia and has been prescribed the psychotropic drug Mellaril, which is indicative of bipolar disorder.

The State's expert medical witness at the postconviction hearing was Dr. Harry McClaren. Dr. McClaren testified that Orme suffered from "depressive disorder, not otherwise specified." Dr. McClaren surmised that other than Dr. Walker's diagnosis, the most common diagnosis by all the medical experts who saw Orme was major depression, and that nothing in Orme's history warranted treatment for bipolar disorder. He stated that Orme had had successes in his life, he had not been hindered by mental illness, and that any mood swings could be attributed to Orme's drug abuse. However, Dr. McClaren did not meet with or personally examine Orme.

Orme, 896 So. 2d at 734-35 (footnote omitted). In finding that trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Orme, this Court explained:

During the penalty phase, evidence of Orme's intoxication was presented as mitigation. The intoxication evidence involved the consumption of cocaine, pills, and alcohol. The State repeatedly told the jury that it should not let Orme "stand behind his crack pipe" or not be responsible for his crime because he was high on drugs. Although the trial court found as mitigating factors that Orme's capacity was substantially impaired and that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, the trial court only gave them "some weight."

Orme argues that testimony linking his drug use to his bipolar disorder would undermine the State's argument that he "hid" behind his crack pipe, because it would explain to the jury that he was ill and that the mental illness made his addiction even greater. We agree. There is no dispute that bipolar disorder is a serious and significant diagnosis. Additional testimony in support of the intoxication and its causes and effects may have warranted greater weight, and the resulting weighing of mitigation and aggravation would have been different. Thus, the fact that the jury did not hear the evidence of Orme's bipolar disorder combined with the jury's penalty phase vote of seven to five undermines our confidence in the result of the penalty phase. Therefore we remand this case for a new penalty phase proceeding.²

Id. at 736 (footnote omitted).

RESENTENCING PROCEEDINGS

During the resentencing proceedings, a significant portion of counsel's strategy was to argue some form of lingering doubt and/or that the aggravators of pecuniary gain, sexual battery and heinous, atrocious and cruel had not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.⁴ Resentencing counsel presented a medical examiner, Dr. Riddick, in support of their assertion that Mr. Orme and the victim engaged in consensual sex and that the victim quickly achieved unconsciousness during the strangulation.

Additionally, resentencing counsel presented a DNA expert, Gary Harmor, in support of their assertion that a third party could have committed the murder and/or the robbery.

In its sentencing order, the trial court found that all three aggravators had been established (R2. 3009-12). With regard to the sexual battery aggravator, the trial court stated

⁴Resentencing counsel challenged the applicability of the pecuniary gain and sexual battery aggravators despite the fact that Mr. Orme had been convicted of robbery and sexual battery.

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