TGEGKXGF. '513; 14236'38-25-62. 'Iqj p'C0'Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODERICK ORME,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC13-819

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

PATRICK M. DELANEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 85824

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050

Primary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com

Secondary E-Mail: Patrick.Delaney@myfloridalegal.com

(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4583 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE** 

#

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

### **Standard of Review**

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy a two prong test, establishing both deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668. To establish deficient performance, a defendant must show that counsel made specific errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed to the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Pietri*, 885, So. 2d at 252. To establish prejudice, for failure to preserve an issue regarding jury selection Orme must show that a juror who served on the jury was actually biased against him. *See Carratelli v. State*, 961 So. 2d 312, 324 (Fla.

2007); *Johnston v. State*, 36 So. 3d 730, 744 – 745 (Fla. 2011) (denying Johnston's claim that trial counsel was ineffective because Johnston did not show that the jurors were actually biased. "Actual bias means bias-in-fact that would prevent service as an impartial juror." *Carratelli*, 961 So. 2d at 324 (citing *U.S. v. Wood*, 229 U.S. 123, 133 – 135 (1936)). ". . . . [T]he evidence of bias must be plain on the face of the record. *Johnston*, 63 So. 3d at 744 – 745. Unless a defendant can show both deficient performance and prejudice, it cannot be said the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. *Strickland*, 466 U.S., at 687.

### Remorse as a Mitigator

The facts of what occurred during the voir dire for Orme's re-sentencing proceeding are recited in this Court's opinion on appeal:

. . . defense counsel asked one of the prospective jurors whether evidence of Orme's remorse could be significant in considering the case. The prosecutor objected. At first, the trial court sustained the objection and held that such a question about remorse was not appropriate during voir dire. However, after both the prosecutor and the trial judge acknowledged that remorse could be considered as a mitigator in sentencing, the trial judge held that defense counsel could inquire into remorse, but could not ask the jury what weight they would give it. However, in doing so, the trial judge also ruled that if a juror could not consider remorse as mitigating, it could only be a basis for a peremptory challenge, not a challenge for cause.

*Orme*, 25 So. 3d at 543. Orme asserts this issue should be considered in conjunction with other errors this Court found to be harmless on direct appeal. (IB

at 91). However, this Court simply declined to address this issue because it was not preserved for appeal. *Orme*, 25 So. 3d at 543 – 44. While, this Court did determine the trial court committed harmless error within its sentencing order; these are separate issues, as this Court treated them on direct appeal. One concerns jury selection regarding remorse and the other concerns the sentencing order. Accordingly, the only basis for Orme to qualify for relief on a claim on ineffective assistance of counsel is to satisfy the two prong test under *Strickland*.

### **Deficient Performance**

"[A] court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential and must be conducted in a manner that eliminates the "distorting effects of hindsight" and considers the conduct in light of the circumstances facing the attorney at the time." *Johnson v. State*, 921 So. 2d 490, 500 (Fla. 2000) (internal citations omitted) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 – 690). ".... [T]he court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

In the present case, defense counsel's failure to object must be viewed in light of the overall strategy for the penalty phase, which was to inject as much doubt into the aggravators as possible. This also was the strategy insisted on by Orme. (PCR2 Vol. 20: 3094). Therefore, an argument which was predicated on remorse, which would include admissions of wrong doing, would cut against the defenses decided strategy to create doubt within the jury's mind as to the aggravators.

### **Prejudice to the Defendant**

Orme must also show the failure to preserve this issue resulted in a juror, any juror, with actual biases serving as a member of the jury. *Carratelli*, 961 So. 2d at 323 - 324. While Orme asserts a conclusive proposition that the failure to preserve this error resulted in prejudice, any position is purely speculative. Although the trial court corrected its prior ruling and permitted defense counsel to inquire about remorse, the defense this line of questioning and did not ask any questions to any members of the venire regarding remorse. As such, the record in the instant case is devoid of any evidence that an actually biased juror served.

Mere speculation into a juror's potential bias is not sufficient to rise to the level of ineffectiveness as required by *Strickland*. *See Solozano v. State*, 25 So. 3d 19, 23 (Fla. 2009) (finding claim of ineffectiveness based on speculation legally insufficient and properly denied in post-conviction); *Green v. State*, 975 So. 2d 1090, 1105 (Fla. 2008) (holding trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance

in failing to ask a prospective juror more questions "because an allegation that there would have been a basis for a cause challenge if counsel had followed up during voir dire with more specific questions was speculative") (citing *Johnson v. State*, 903 So. 2d 888, 890 (Fla. 2005); *Reeves v. State*, 826 So. 2d 932, 939 (Fla. 2002)). In the present case, there simply is no evidence which would give rise to a finding that an actually biased juror served.

Orme also cannot show prejudice in the trial court's incorrect in ruling that a juror's refusal to consider remorse as a mitigator could only be the basis for a peremptory challenge. In order for Orme to have suffered prejudice as a result of this ruling, Orme would have to show he exhausted all of his peremptory challenges, and as a result had one less peremptory challenge to use against other objectionable jurors. *Matarranz v. State*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S687 (Fla. 2013) (finding the defendant was prejudiced because he had one less peremptory to use against all other objectionable jurors after he had exhausted all of his peremptory challenges and requested an additional peremptory challenge. Also quoting "A court errs when it 'force[s] a party to exhaust his peremptory challenges on persons who should have been excused for cause . . . ."" *Leon v. State*, 396 So. 2d 203, 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981)); *Carratelli*, 961 So. 2d at 318.

At the end of voir dire, Orme had 3 peremptory challenges remaining and did not request any additional challenges. (2PP Vol. XLVIII 4711). He did not

identify any prospective juror he wished to challenge for cause because the prospective juror would not consider remorse in mitigation. (2PP Vol. XLVIII 4711). Furthermore, Orme's argument does not identify a specific juror as being biased against him, but simply asserts he was prejudiced as a result of his trial counsel's failure to preserve this issue for appeal. Therefore, since Orme's argument is based on speculation and cannot show that he was prejudiced by the trial court's ruling this argument should be summarily denied.

# IV. ORME CANNOT SHOW PREJUDICE FOR COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF MERCY DURING JURY SELECTION BECAUSE THE RECORD IS SILENT AS TO WHETHER AN ACUTALLY BIASED JUROR SERVED ON THE JURY.

Orme claims defense counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the trial court's error regarding the jury's consideration of mercy during its deliberations. While the trial court did commit an initial error, that error was corrected and subsequently defense counsel abandoned the argument of mercy. In order to prevail on this claim Orme must show that an actually biased juror served on the jury. Because trial counsel did not conduct any further inquiry into the issue of mercy the record is silent as to any actual biases by any juror. Therefore, Orme's claim is based on speculation and should be denied.

### **Standard of Review**

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy a two prong test, establishing both deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668. To establish deficient performance, a defendant must show that counsel made specific errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed to the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668; *Pietri*, 885, So. 2d at 252. To establish prejudice, for failure to preserve an issue regarding jury selection Orme must show that a juror who served on the jury was actually biased against him. *See Carratelli v. State*, 961 So. 2d 312, 324 (Fla.

2007); *Johnston v. State*, 36 So. 3d 730, 744 – 745 (Fla. 2011) (denying Johnston's claim that trial counsel was ineffective because Johnston did not show that the jurors were actually biased. "Actual bias means bias-in-fact that would prevent service as an impartial juror." *Carratelli*, 961 So. 2d at 324 (citing *U.S. v. Wood*, 229 U.S. 123, 133 – 135 (1936)). ". . . . [T]he evidence of bias must be plain on the face of the record. *Johnston v. State*, 63 So. 3d 730, 744 – 745 (Fla. 2011). Unless a defendant can show both deficient performance and prejudice, it cannot be said the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S., 668, 687 (1984).

### **Inquiry of Venire on Mercy**

During the first stage of voir dire, defense counsel asked two prospective jurors whether the consideration of mercy had a part in the sentencing proceedings. After the first juror stated that he could not consider mercy, defense counsel challenged him for cause, which the trial court denied. Defense counsel then asked another juror the same question. The prosecutor objected, and the trial court sustained the objection and restricted defense counsel's questions regarding mercy. Later during voir dire, defense counsel asked the trial court to reconsider the ruling restricting his ability to inquire about mercy. The trial court agreed to allow defense counsel to revisit the issue of mercy during the second stage of voir dire. After this ruling, although still during the first stage, defense counsel questioned three more prospective jurors about mercy without objection from the State, and then asked two different groups of prospective jurors during the second stage whether they could consider mercy. None of the prospective jurors indicated that they could not consider mercy in the case.

Orme concedes that the trial court allowed him to question prospective jurors about mercy and he did, in fact asked the jurors about mercy. However, he argues that because the parties resumed their argument about the role of mercy during the second stage of jury selection, he was never able to raise the issue of mercy afterwards due to the trial court's ruling. The record demonstrates that after defense counsel asked the last set of fourteen jurors about mercy, the parties resumed their argument about the role of mercy. The trial court ended the argument by ruling that the prosecutor could not bring up the issue of mercy unless defense counsel raised the issue. Orme now argues that he was never able to raise the issue of mercy after this decision because he did not want the State to make improper comments about the governor being the only one who could exercise mercy. However, we find the issue is not preserved for appeal because after the trial court's decision, Orme did not attempt to question the jurors about mercy for the rest for voir dire. Accordingly, relief is not warranted.

*Orme*, 25 So. 3d at 544 - 545. Orme now argues that his trial counsel's failure to preserve this issue is a basis for relief. (IB at 91, 93 - 94).

### **Deficient Performance**

"[A] court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential and must be conducted in a manner that eliminates the "distorting effects of hindsight" and considers the conduct in light of the circumstances facing the attorney at the time." *Johnson v. State*, 921 So. 2d 490, 500 (Fla. 2000) (internal citations omitted) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 – 690). "....[T]he court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make

the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

In the present case, defense counsel's failure to preserve this issue for appeal should be viewed in light of the overall strategy for the penalty phase. The strategy of the defense was to attack the aggravators and inject as much doubt into the instructed aggravators as possible, not to rely on mitigation to outweigh the overwhelming evidence against Orme. (PCR2 Vol. 20: 3094). This also was the strategy insisted on by Orme. (PCR2 Vol. 20: 3094). As such, an argument which was predicated on remorse would cut against the defenses decided strategy.

Furthermore, the strategy of lingering doubt was one which Orme insisted on. "[I]t it axiomatic that if a defendant consents to defense counsel's trial strategy after it had been explained to him, it will be difficult to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Stein*, 995 So. 2d at 337 (citing *Gamble v. State*, 887 So. 2d 706, 714 (Fla. 2004) ("[I]f the defendant consents to counsel's strategy, there is no merit to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel"; *see Nixon v. Singletary*, 758 So. 2d 618, 623 (Fla. 2003). This Court has even acknowledged that consent to counsel's strategy is "almost always fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim." *Stein*, 995 So. 2d at 337. Therefore, trial counsel was not deficient in his performance because his strategy was endorsed and insisted on by Orme.

## **Prejudice to the Defendant**

Orme must also show that the failure to preserve this issue resulted in a juror, any juror, with actual biases serving as a member of the jury. *Carratelli v. State*, 961 So. 2d 312, 323 – 324 (Fla. 2007). While Orme asserts a conclusive proposition that the failure to preserve this error resulted in prejudice, any position is purely speculative. Although the trial court corrected its prior ruling and permitted defense counsel to inquire about mercy, "[t]he record demonstrates that after defense counsel asked the last set of fourteen jurors about mercy, the parties resumed their argument about the role of mercy." *Orme*, 25 So. 3d at 544 – 545. Once again, the record in the instant case is devoid of any evidence that an actually biased juror served.

Mere speculation into a juror's potential bias is not sufficient to rise to the level of ineffectiveness as required by *Strickland*. *See Solozano v. State*, 25 So. 3d 19, 23 (Fla. 2009) (finding claim of ineffectiveness based on speculation legally insufficient and properly denied in post-conviction); *Green v. State*, 975 So. 2d 1090, 1105 (Fla. 2008) (holding trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance in failing to ask a prospective juror more questions "because an allegation that there would have been a basis for a cause challenge if counsel had followed up during voir dire with more specific questions was speculative") (citing *Johnson v*.

State, 903 So. 2d 888, 890 (Fla. 2005); Reeves v. State, 826 So. 2d 932, 939 (Fla. 2002)).

In the present case, there simply is no evidence which would give rise to a finding that an actually biased juror served. Orme did not identify any prospective juror he wished to challenge for cause because the prospective juror would not consider mercy in mitigation. Furthermore, Orme's argument does not identify a specific juror as being biased against him, but simply alleges that he was prejudiced as a result of his trial counsel's failure to preserve this issue for appeal. Therefore, since Orme's argument is based on speculation, he cannot show prejudice, and this argument should be summarily denied.

# V. THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT HAS REPEATEDLY REJECTED INDEPENDENT CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL.

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